
Date Published:5 March 2021     

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 9 March 2021 at 10.00 am

This meeting will be held as a remote access meeting via 
Webex

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest 

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

3  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 12)

To confirm the minutes of the joint committee meeting held 26 January 
2021 

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

4  PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT (Pages 13 - 28)

An update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health, (Gloucestershire County Council), on matters relating to public 
health, including the response to the COVID-19 Emergency. 

A Covid-19 intelligence summary update will be circulated prior to the 
meeting to provide members with the latest information.

Sarah Scott
Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Public Health 

5  ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT (Pages 29 - 34)

An update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health, (Gloucestershire County Council), on matters relating to adult 
social care, including the response to the COVID-19 Emergency.

Sarah Scott
Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Public Health 

6  CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT (Pages 35 - 40)

An update on matters relating to the delivery of services within the Chief 
Fire Officer, (Gloucestershire), portfolio of services, comprising; 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Civil 
Protection and Coroners Services.

Wayne Bowcock
Chief Fire 
Officer



    

7  WORK PLAN REVIEW 2017-21 

To review the work of the committee 2017-21 and make suggestions on 
possible items for scrutiny for the new committee to consider post the 
council elections in May 2021.

Dates of future meetings: 

22 June 2021 (induction meeting)
6 July 2021
7 September 2021 
9 November 2021 

Jo Moore

Membership –  Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair), Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Iain Dobie (Vice-Chair), 
Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Shaun Parsons, 
Cllr Steve Robinson and Cllr Brian Robinson 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Acting Monitoring 
Officer, (Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to 
the start of the meeting.

Please contact Jo Moore on jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk or 01452 324196 for any 
matters relating to this committee

 

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting of the Joint Meeting of the Adult Social Care and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 26 
January 2021.

The meeting was held as a virtual held meeting via Webex and can be viewed on the 
Gloucestershire County Council website here

ASCC
Members

Cllr Iain Dobie (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair)
Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE

Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Brian Robinson
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Brian Tipper

HOSC 
Members

Cllr Brian Robinson (Chair)
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson (Vice-
Chair)
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE

Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Martin Horwood
Cllr Dilys Neill
Cllr Collette Finnegan
Cllr Steve Lydon
Cllr Jill Smith

1. INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES 

Chairman of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee, (ASCC), 
Cllr Stephen Hirst, and Chairman of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
(HOSC), Cllr Brian Robinson, welcomed everyone to the meeting. Making reference 
to the mutual interest of the two committees in considering the response to the 
Covid-19 emergency, Cllr Hirst outlined the purpose of holding a joint meeting.

Sarah Scott attended the meeting as Executive Director of Adult Social Care and 
Public Health at Gloucestershire County Council, (having taken over the role of 
Executive Director for Adult Social Care and Communities from Margaret Willcox, 
who had recently retired from the County Council). It was noted that Sarah Scott, (in 
her role as Director of Public Health), had also attended the HOSC meeting on 17 
November 2020, giving scrutiny members an opportunity to ask questions on public 
health related issues at that meeting. 

Apologies were received from Cllr Phil Awford, (a member of the Adult Social Care 
and Communities Scrutiny Committee).  Cllr Brian Tipper represented Cllr Awford at 
the meeting. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/online-meetings-archive/january-2021-online-meetings/joint-meeting-of-the-adult-social-care-and-communities-scrutiny-committee-and-gloucestershire-health-overview-and-scrutiny-committee-tuesday-26-january-2021-1000-am/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

3. MINUTES 

The minutes of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
meeting held on 10 November 2020 were confirmed and agreed as a correct record 
of that meeting.

4. RESPONSE TO COVID-19 (ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND PUBLIC HEALTH) 

Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, 
(Gloucestershire County Council), gave a detailed update on the Gloucestershire 
response to the Covid-19 Emergency. 

A Covid-19 intelligence summary update, (detailing performance indicators for the 
period 14 to 21 January 2021), had been circulated on the morning of the meeting, 
providing members with the latest information. The intelligence document is 
attached to the minutes of the meeting. 

Included in the summary information, were performance updates relating to; the 
number of Covid-19 confirmed cases for the county, the number of hospitalisations, 
including the number of patients in critical care; the number of death (Covid-19) 
registrations made during the past 7 days; the number of excess deaths in the 
county; the number of Covid-19 confirmed cases in care homes, (staff and 
resident), an update on the South-West R value range; and an overview of 
Gloucestershire and National Performance Indicators, including comparisons 
between Gloucestershire and its geographical neighbours. 

The Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, (with input from 
NHS staff), introduced the update report and clarified the following information: - 

a) Referencing the high number of Covid-19 cases in the Gloucester City area, 
a local member asked what was being done to manage the situation? It was 
confirmed that Gloucester City had experienced a high number of cases, but 
that this had started to reduce. Working with Gloucester City colleagues, 
local leaders and community representatives, the public health team hoped 
to gain a better understanding of some of the behaviours that may have 
created this surge, particularly among Black and Asian Minority Ethnic 
Groups (BAME). To address some of the challenges brought about by 
communication issues with people from BAME communities, it was agreed 
strong messages of support and reassurances would be vital in developing 
confidence and building trust.

b) A member referred to reports via social media suggesting evidence of low 
transmission levels in outdoor locations. Questioning how this might impact 
on the easing of restrictions for the county, members were informed that, 
whilst ventilation helped to reduce the transmission of the virus, it was still 
important to adhere to hand washing/face mask and social distancing 
guidelines. Acknowledging concerns about the impact of the pandemic on 
the local economy, the Executive Director reinforced the need to balance 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

decisions being taken to protect lives with the easing of restrictions to re-
energise tourism. 

c) Another member stressed the need for more in-depth data to enable better 
understanding of the variances in infection rates, particularly in relation to 
specific age groups. The Executive Director reported that the public health 
team continued to work under very difficult circumstances to analyse the 
data available to them. It was not an easy task, particularly given the wide 
range of underlying factors and large numbers of asymptomatic people in the 
county. The work was ongoing and it was hoped additional funding would 
enable the council to invest more resources into this work. 

d) Enquiring about the levels of infection in school children, it was explained 
that that a high proportion of children were asymptomatic, making it difficult 
to determine the spread of the virus in schools, and in what numbers. The 
decision to close schools had been a national decision, for which the county 
continued to adhere to government guidelines. Teachers had responded 
incredibly well to the challenging circumstances and in delivering home 
schooling, with the support of parents.

e) Updating members on the roll out of the Gloucestershire Covid-19 
vaccination programme, the Executive Director confirmed that the initial roll 
out had been positive. Phase 1 of the roll out aimed to vaccinate over 
400,000 people by the end of April 2020. This included vaccines 
administered via a hospital hub for health and social care staff and at 10 
Primary Care Networks located across the county for eligible members of the 
public.  Working closely with NHS colleagues, the public health team was 
working hard to obtain data and inform the public about uptake and 
coverage.  

f) The Joint Committee for Vaccination and Immunisations (JCVI) had 
identified priority groups for vaccination. Whilst crucial in protecting the most 
vulnerable people in society and easing pressures on the health and social 
care system, the vaccine would not necessarily stop people from getting the 
virus completely. It would, however, help to reduce serious complications or 
death in those at most risk.

g) Priority Group 2 of the key priority groups included all frontline health and 
social care workers. The County Council and Clinical Commissioning Group, 
working with NHS partners, aimed to ensure everyone eligible for vaccination 
were vaccinated as quickly as possible. 

h) The list of health and social care staff eligible for vaccination included: staff 
who had frequent face-to-face contact with patients (children or adult) and 
directly involved in patient care in either secondary or primary care, mental 
health, urgent and emergency care and community settings; those working in 
independent, voluntary and non-standard healthcare settings such as 
hospices, and community-based mental health or addiction services; 
laboratory, pathology and mortuary staff; those working for a sub-contracted 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

provider of facilities services; temporary, locum or ‘bank’ staff, including 
those working in the Covid-19 vaccination programme, students, trainees 
and volunteers working with patients; and frontline social care workers 
working directly with vulnerable people (children or adults) who needed care 
and support, irrespective of where they worked  

i) To ensure maximum impact, priority would be given to frontline workers in 
regular close contact with individuals with either confirmed or suspected 
Covid-19 and staff working with people at highest risk of being infected or in 
becoming seriously ill.  Each service was being asked to further prioritise 
staff based on personal vulnerabilities such as age and ethnicity or existing 
health conditions.

j) Vaccinations would be administered in home environments for members of 
the public with mobility or serious health issues. 

k) Responding to concerns about available hospital bed spaces caused by 
pressures from increased rates of Covid-19, members were reassured that 
the system was coping well, supported by the NHS Home First Programme 
for people discharged from hospital and able to be treated at home. 

Commending the combined efforts of the public health team, NHS, support 
agencies, community organisations and volunteers, the committee agreed that the 
response to the virus was not to be underestimated and that there was still a lot of 
work to be done. 

The report was noted.

5. RESPONSE TO COVID-19: NHS GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUP (GCCG) 

Mary Hutton, (representing GCCG and One Gloucestershire Integrated Care 
System), presented a summary of current issues relating to the Covid-19 virus. 

Expanding on the update presented earlier in the meeting regarding the Covid-19 
vaccination programme, it was confirmed that vaccinations were being administered 
via 10 Primary Care Network hubs located across the county, (including a fire 
station in Cheltenham), by Gloucestershire Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (GHT) 
and Gloucestershire Health and Care (GHC).

Based on data reported from the start of the roll out in December to 22 January 
2021, 71,000 vaccinations had been administered to people from the first 4 national 
priority groups, including; care home residents and staff; people aged 70 and over; 
frontline health and social care staff; and people classified as clinically extremely 
vulnerable. 85% of residents aged 80 plus and all care homes, (excluding 3 care 
homes with a confirmed outbreak of Covid), had been vaccinated. Gloucestershire 
CCG was following the national directive of pausing the roll out of the second 
vaccination to enable more people receive their first vaccine.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

At the time of the report, (22 January 2021), Gloucestershire had been at the top of 
the national league table as the top performing Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership/Integrated Care System in England for administering vaccinations. The 
national target for the top 4 priority groups to be vaccinated was mid-February 
2021. 

Cllr Stephen Lydon commended the success of the roll out of the vaccine in 
Gloucestershire and asked how people not registered with a local GP would be 
vaccinated? Dr Andy Seymour, Clinical Chair for Gloucestershire CCG was able to 
confirm that a great deal of work, including work with the public health team, was 
involved in ensuring equitable distribution of the vaccine. NHS England was aware 
of the issue and hoped to resolve the problem in forthcoming weeks.

Prior to the meeting, Cllr Lydon submitted a couple of written questions, for which 
written responses had been provided after the meeting. In the first of two questions, 
Cllr Lydon referred to reports of unused quantities of the pfizer vaccine due to the 
limited shelf life of the vaccine. Cllr Lydon asked to what extent was this an issue in 
Gloucestershire and what was being done to address the problem. In a written 
response, members were assured that it was the CCG’s absolute priority not to 
waste vaccines and that processes were in place to minimise the risk. All 
vaccination sites held ‘reserve’ lists of people who could be called at short notice if 
it appeared, towards the end of the day, there might be a surplus of the pfizer 
vaccine

In a second question, Cllr Lydon reiterated concerns about people not registered 
with a Gloucestershire GP being eligible for vaccination. These included a large 
proportion of people working for the NHS and care staff from overseas. Cllr Lydon 
asked what proportion of Gloucestershire residents were not registered with a GP 
and what was being done to address the issue, particularly, in relation to front line 
staff receiving vaccines? In a written response, the CCG informed Cllr Lydon that, 
whilst it was more efficient if a person was registered with a GP, it was not 
essential. As an interim measure, vaccination sites could use paper forms to record 
a person’s details. Both locally, and nationally, the NHS was encouraging people to 
register with a GP.
Updating members on the supply of Personal Protective Equipment,(PPE), it was 
confirmed that the CCG continued to provide PPE to all NHS health and social care 
providers via a storage and delivery arrangement with the Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service. 
In Spring 2020, Infection, Prevention and Control (IPC) training had been delivered 
to all NHS care homes, for which ongoing support continued to be provided, 
particularly during the event of an outbreak of COVID. Refresher training 
programmes were about to be offered. 

As of 22 January 2021, Covid patients occupied 26% of all acute hospital beds in 
Gloucestershire. During the current wave of the virus, the length of stay in hospital 
was notably longer than the first wave. Working closely with community health 
services, care homes and social care, the CCG was working hard to keep the flow 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

of patients in Gloucestershire hospitals moving. The principle aim was to provide 
NHS Home First support where possible. 

Noting the work involved in providing treatment for Long Covid patients, a member 
asked whether anti-body testing would be offered to those people who may have 
had the virus but had not been tested. The committee was informed that antibody 
testing was not something that was being offered but was a matter that could be 
discussed with a person’s GP.

The Covid virtual ward continued to provide support services to both early and safe 
hospital discharge patients, and wherever possible, avoid admission for Covid 
patients experiencing mild symptoms. 

During the first wave of the virus, a significant number of patient operations and 
diagnostic tests had been cancelled. In Gloucestershire, however, patients 
diagnosed with cancer had continued to receive treatment throughout the 
pandemic, and currently continuing to do so. A detailed plan had been produced to 
treat those patients whose operations had been cancelled in 2020. 

Reflecting on the pressures placed on staff during the pandemic, members were 
advised that staff wellbeing was at the forefront of the everyone’s focus. Every effort 
was made to ensuring staff received the support available to them, in respect of 
both physical and mental wellbeing.

The two committees commended the good work detailed in the reports presented at 
the meeting. One member suggested producing a record of the various stages of 
activity involved in the response to the pandemic and any lessons learnt. It was 
generally agreed that it would be important to log and reflect on the events and 
activities involved in the response and recovery process going forward. The CCG 
confirmed that a huge amount of work was being done to capture this information 
and that a CQC publication would be published in due course, which would be 
shared with the committee. 

The update was noted.

6. RESPONSE TO COVID-19: GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND CARE NHS 
FOUNDATION TRUST (GHCFT) 

Representatives from Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation 
Trust (GHCFT) provided a detailed briefing note on the response to the 
pandemic. The update was circulated with the agenda and included 
information on the response to Covid-19, including the care provided to Covid 
patients in community hospitals across the county. 

Trust colleagues were involved in lateral flow testing twice weekly and 
running the Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) Testing Centre at Edward 
Jenner for staff and families of GHC, GHT and social care and for people 
requiring a pre-procedure test.

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

The provision of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) to Trust staff remained a key 
element of the Trust response, as was providing Covid-secure buildings for both 
staff and patients. Many Trust colleagues continued to work remotely, where 
possible, to help reduce the risk of spread among teams and services. 

The Trust was also involved in leading the development of clinics for people who 
continued to suffer with Covid symptoms 3 months after diagnosis. The Trust was 
currently testing a multi-disciplinary approach with colleagues from Gloucester 
Hospitals and Primary Care with the aim of developing this as a key programme of 
support in line with national guidance.

The Trust was heavily involved in the roll out of the Covid Vaccination Programme, 
working alongside the Primary Care Networks and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust. In line with the national guidance on the priority groups for 
vaccination, some Trust colleagues had started to receive the vaccine and had 
commenced a programme to support the immunisation of its own inpatients, 
particularly those who are vulnerable due to their complex health needs. A 
Housebound vaccination programme was being offered.

The Trust continued to focus on the Home First approach and the need to increase 
the number of discharges from both acute and community hospitals who returned 
directly to home rather than to a nursing or residential home

Vaccinating Trust colleagues against the flu had been an important consideration 
this year due to the increased risk of contracting flu and Covid. More than 90% of 
frontline colleagues had received the flu vaccine. The  Childhood Immunisation 
Team had worked throughout the winter months in delivering the flu vaccine to all 
primary school children (Reception to Year 6) and all Year 7 children in secondary 
school. The majority of immunisations were delivered within schools. At the time of 
the report, more than 40,016 school children had been vaccinated. 

The briefing note was noted.

7. PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT 

Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, introduced 
the Public Health Report. 

A member noted the work involved in trialling treatments to prevent individuals from 
contracting HIV and asked if this work could be coordinated alongside work by 
Gloucestershire Health Care’s sexual health and advisory service. The request was 
noted and the Executive Director agreed to make enquires with the current 
provider. Action by – Sarah Scott 

Another member requested an update on sexual health services at the next 
meeting and this was agreed. An update to be included in the next Public Health 
report to the committee. 

The report was noted.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

8. ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT 

Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, introduced 
the Adult Social Care Report. 

A member enquired about the impact of increased pressures at work from Covid-19 
and the challenges of working in a crisis on the public health team. The Executive 
Director confirmed that the team was working in extremely difficult conditions. Staff 
were exceptionally busy and continuing to maintain appropriate standards in spite 
of the challenges. There were no issues to report at this time.

The report was noted 

9. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

Wayne Bowcock, Chief Fire Officer (CFO) for Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service (GFRS), gave a detailed update on current issues/key areas of work within 
the CFO portfolio of services, including: Fire and Rescue Service, Trading 
Standards, Civil Protection and Coroners Services.

Updating members on the response to the Covid-19 emergency, the Chief Fire 
Officer stated that, throughout the national emergency, GFRS had collaborated with 
GCC colleagues and with regional and national emergency services to support the 
local community. The actions of GFRS in response to the pandemic had been 
recognised in a letter from the Fire Minister, Lord Greenhalgh, received in 
November 2020, following an application to the Fire Covid-19 Contingency Fund. 

It was reported that GFRS had been the subject in the ‘first round’ HMICFRS Covid-
19 Inspection in November 2020.  During the inspection the following factors had 
been considered (a) What was working well and what had been learned; (b) How 
the fire sector had responded to the Covid -19 emergency; (c) How fire services 
were dealing with the problems they faced; (d) What changes were likely as a result 
of the pandemic. Although the inspection report was not yet publicly available, it 
was believed GFRS had performed well and that the report was favourable. 

A summary of activities performed by GFRS in response to the pandemic is 
summarised below:

Community Covid-19 Testing – the recent government announcement that people 
unable to work from home could access LFD (Lateral Flow Device) testing had 
created some issues. GCC and GFRS were looking at how this might be 
implemented. The Operational Resilience Cell, together with colleagues from GCC, 
Public Health and DHSC were looking to establish a Local Testing Site (LTS) at 
various locations around the County. This would be a walk-in model to allow people 
to access a full PCR (Polymerase Chain Reaction) test without the need for an 
appointment. The first LTS will be located in Gloucester City. A Mass Testing Site at 
the Royal Agricultural University, Cirencester went live on 3 December 2020, with 
training and induction taking place in conjunction with colleagues from GCC. GFRS 
continued to supply staff to deliver this project. In response to rising infection rates, 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

a testing site in Gloucester City had been set up. It was expected that GFRS staff 
will be involved in the work at this site. 

In addition, fire crews were carrying out test & trace welfare checks on residents 
who had not responded to contact by national or local test & trace services. GFRS 
was working with Public Health to review the impact of this activity. At least 1000 of 
these visits had been carried out by GFRS staff. 

Covid-19 Vaccinations: Clinical staff inductions had taken place at the Primary Care 
Networks Vaccination Site at Cheltenham East Fire Station on 2 December 2020. 
The first Covid Vaccination Clinic had been delivered on 16 December 2020. The 
site had delivered 330 vaccines each day prior to the Christmas holiday. Capacity 
was expected to rise to 1000 plus per day. The Operational Resilience Cell was 
currently making preparations for further vaccination centres, as required. 

The NHS Acute Team had taken up the offer of using SkillZONE to deliver Covid 
vaccinations from Monday 18 January 2021.

The additional vaccination site, run by Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust, was currently being set up and will initially cater for approximately 
20,000 frontline health and social care workers. Staff from SkillZONE will support 
the day-to-day operations at this site.

Flu Vaccinations: Flu vaccination clinics had been taking place at some of GFRS 
call stations including: Cheltenham East, Gloucester North, Coleford, Cinderford, 
Stroud, and Wotton. Additional weekend drive-through clinics had been set up at 
Gloucester North, Stroud, Cirencester, Chipping Camden and Cheltenham East. 
These were run by the Gloucestershire Pharmacy Network to target the most 
vulnerable groups in the community, such as care home staff and domiciliary 
workers. GFRS was assisting in the facilitation of these clinics. 

Mortality Cell: The Mortality Cell and Temporary Chapel of Rest had reopened on 
Wednesday 16 December 2020. GFRS staff were in place to assist with the work at 
the Chapel. It was anticipated that the site would run until 23 March 2021.Support 
and welfare was being offered to staff.

PPE Training: GFRS was storing and distributing emergency PPE supplies to social 
care, school and other key users. The GFRS supply chain, via the NFCC 
procurement hub, had been used to procure extra supplies. Since the start of the 
pandemic, GFRS had made 3861 individual deliveries of PPE to various settings 
across the County, equating to 8.5 million pieces of PPE. Recent increases in 
infection rates, particularly in care homes, had resulted in an increased demand for 
training in these care settings. Additional resources had been allocated to this task 
and over 200 care home staff had requested and received PPE training as part of 
the second wave response. 

SWAST: Formal confirmation had been provided to SWAFT of GFRS continued 
support in respect of an extension of the provision of First Responder Service 
mutual aid until week commencing Monday 7 April 2021. During the period 1 to 11 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

November 2021, GFRS had provided 174 shifts and attended 637 incidents as part 
of an ambulance crew, equating to some 1485 mobilisations since the 
commencement of the mutual aid agreement. SWAST had declared a critical 
incident due to the unprecedented demand on their service. In response, GFRS 
was continuing to increase the number of shifts it was able to cover. The response 
to the recent advert for additional volunteers had been good. It was hoped to have 
additional staff trained shortly. Additional welfare arrangements were in place for 
GFRS employees to support any mental wellbeing needs they may be experiencing 
due to the potential exposure to traumatic incidents.

Other activities included: Support to GCC and Highways, including putting up 
signage as part of the wider Covid Communication Strategy; Delivering food to 
vulnerable people; Local Track & Trace; Outreach swabbing; Delivery of laptop 
computers to young people.

The committee commended the good work being provided by GFRS. One member 
enquired about vaccinations for firefighters, (not included in the first 9 priority 
groups), and was assured all staff supporting SWAST had been offered the 
vaccine. In addition, all staff had been provided with PPE. A request was made for 
the CFO to come back to the committee on the number of GFRS staff taking up the 
vaccine. Another member asked for an update on fire-fighter pensions and sick pay. 
It was agreed updates on these issues would be included in the CFO report to the 
committee at the next meeting. Action by – Wayne Bowcock

A member enquired if there had been any developments in the proposed bid to 
takeover the fire service by the Office of the Police Crime Commissioner (OPCC) 
and if there had been an increase in the number of road traffic accidents during 
lockdown. Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member: Public Protection, Parking and 
Libraries confirmed that the position had not changed regarding the bid by the 
OPCC but would advise of any updates, when received. The Cabinet Member 
confirmed that a robust challenge would be made to any developments made by 
the OPCC.

The Chief Fire Officer confirmed that there had been a 40% reduction in fires during 
the first lockdown and a 30% reduction in road traffic accidents. There had been, 
however, a notable increase in speeding incidents.  

The Chief Fire Officer update was noted.

10. ROAD SAFETY CABINET PANEL 

Members noted the final report of the Road Safety Cabinet Panel, (introduced by 
Cabinet Member: Public Protection, Parking and Libraries, Cllr Dave Norman). The 
report will be presented to Cabinet at its meeting on 24 March 2021. The report can 
be viewed at the link here

Comments made at the meeting, (in response to the Panel’s recommendations), 
included i) concerns about the complexities of the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) 
process; ii) lack of enforcement in relation to speeding issues; iii) safety concerns 

Page 10

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s68330/Item%2010%20-%20Road%20Safety%20Cabinet%20Panel%20Report%20-%20with%20Appendices.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

about the use of electronic scooters in public places; and iv) the need for increased 
investment in the council’s road safety budget. 

The committee endorsed the report, subject to the comments made at the meeting.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.50pm 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 

and Public Health

9 March 2021 – Public Health Update

Update on Domestic Abuse Bill

The draft Domestic Abuse Bill was published in January 2019 setting out 123 
commitments, both legislative and non-legislative, designed to:

• promote awareness of domestic abuse
• protect and support victims and their families
• transform the justice process to prioritise victim safety and provide an 

effective response to perpetrators
• and to drive consistency and better performance in the response to domestic 

abuse across all local areas, agencies and sectors

Following consultation, the DA Bill completed its stages through the House of 
Commons in July 2020. It had a second reading in the House of Lords on 5th Jan 
2021, it is worth noting that at this stage several additional recommendations/ 
considerations were made including; extending the statutory duty on Local 
Authorities to include community-based support services. The Bill is now at the 
House of Lords committee stage and will then proceed to; report stage, 3rd reading 
and amendments prior to receiving Royal Ascent. It is expected that the statutory 
duties outlined in the Bill/ Act will come into force in April 2021. 

Main Statutory Duties of the Domestic Abuse Bill

The Domestic Abuse Bill will place a statutory duty on tier 1 local authorities to 
provide support to victims of domestic abuse and their children within safe 
accommodation, with the aim of achieving consistency across England. It is noted 
that currently the duty does not extend to the provision of community-based support 
for victims of domestic abuse. 

The main requirements under the statutory duty are to: 

 Convene a Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board
 Complete a Needs Assessment
 Develop a Domestic Abuse Strategy and commission appropriately
 Monitor and Report to Government
 LAs to have regard to Statutory Guidance in exercising the above functions
 Tier 2 local authorities to co-operate with tier 1 local authorities

Gloucestershire is well place to implement the DA Bill and statutory duties, this work 
is being led by Tina Hemingway (Outcome Manager) and Sophie Jarrett (County 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategic Coordinator). All requirements are 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



2

being considered and appropriate actions being taken. The Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence Commissioning Group will over see activity and will be reconvened 
as the Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board.  

Rapid research proposal 

Rapid insight research has been commissioned to understand attitudes and 
behaviours related to self-isolating and accessing COVID-19 testing. This qualitative 
research will target critical workers (those who cannot work from home) who live in 
areas of high deprivation and/or near to a community testing site. It seeks to 
develop: 

 A clear understanding of the motives, barriers and implications of self-isolating 
and/or testing in different scenarios 

 A clear qualitative insight into the needs and solutions to influence residents 
to comply with self-isolating and access testing

 Insight-led recommendations for incentives/solutions that will influence and 
encourage compliance with the 4 desired behaviours 

The research report will be completed by early March. 

Communications update

Since the start of 2021, we have focussed on activity that supports the 
Government’s: ‘Stay at home, Save Lives’ message, community testing and the roll-
out of the COVID-19 vaccination programme: 

Activity includes:

 Gloucestershire County Council joined NextDoor – a social site that helps us 
target our vital Covid messages at a hyperlocal level

 The county’s first community testing centre opened at the Friendship café in 
Gloucester. Residents who still have to leave home for either work or caring 
responsibilities were invited to get a rapid, regular test. This was promoted via 
Gloucester FM, translated audio and posters, direct communications to parents 
via schools, Nextdoor and the media 

 Promotion of the Holiday School Meals voucher scheme for February half term 
via social media 

 Nearly 300,000 COVID-19 support leaflets were delivered to households across 
the county and included information on: looking after your mental health and 
wellbeing, financial support to help people to stay at home and more
 Lamppost signs across the county will be replaced to reflect the positive 

impact that lockdown has had on Covid cases in the county, with the message 
‘Help beat COVID-19’ 

 We shared a video from Gloucester Rugby encouraging people to follow the 
rules so that they can get back ‘in the shed’ 

 NHS partners have been sharing details of the progress of the COVID-19 
vaccination programme roll out. This includes the county council’s efforts to 

Page 14



3

reach frontline health and social care staff. Members of the county’s Warning 
and Informing communications group have been supporting the efforts

 Gloucestershire Constabulary have been promoting enforcement activity 
during lockdown, reminding people to stick to the rules or face a fine

 This Valentines Day we used social media to encourage people to ‘Spread 
the love, not the virus’ 

COVID-19 Vaccination Update

Social care staff vaccine roll out

The roll out of the NHS C19 vaccination programme was recently extended to 
frontline social care staff (known as priority cohort 2). Directorates across GCC have 
been working collectively to identify not only their own eligible staff, but to invite 
social care providers in Gloucestershire into the local NHS vaccination programme, 
issuing letters of eligibility to evidence their priority for vaccination.

Priority cohort 2 includes CQC-registered providers, and / or other non-registered 
organisations who employ frontline care workers providing care to individuals that 
are clinically vulnerable to COVID infection. This includes homelessness services 
and other community provision to those with severe mental health diagnosis and/or 
learning disabilities, as well as older adult social care.

Who is eligible?

• Those working in long-stay residential and nursing care homes or other long-stay 
facilities where rapid spread is likely to following introduction of infection and 
cause high morbidity and mortality.

• Social care staff directly involved in the care of their patients or clients.
• Others involved directly in delivering social care such that they and clinically 

vulnerable patients or clients are at increased risk of exposure.

To date, letters of eligibility have been issued to over 7000 social care staff in 
Gloucestershire. This is in addition to staff working in older adult care homes who 
were offered the vaccine in cohort 1 of the vaccination programme. 

A key priority going forward is to collect more information on uptake in social care 
settings and understand any barriers to uptake to inform the local Covid-19 
vaccination roll out locally. A web based and telephone survey is currently being 
delivered to support this understanding.

Vaccinations Equity

A countywide COVID-19 Vaccinations Equity Group was convened at the end of 
January and is chaired by Paul Roberts (Chief Executive of Gloucestershire Health 
and Care NHS Foundation Trust). The purpose of this group is to support equitable 
uptake of COVID-19 vaccinations across the population of Gloucestershire. The 
objectives of the group are to:

Page 15



4

• Ensure robust data is collected that allow the group to identify and then 
measure any inequalities of uptake

• Consider and take into account the national evidence on vaccine hesitancy to 
supplement local data

• Engage and involve relevant groups who are not coming forward for 
vaccination

• Identify the reasons for vaccine hesitancy
• Agree strategies and interventions to address the issues raised
• Evaluate the strategies and interventions to ensure they are effective
• Share data and activity with the Gloucestershire COVID-19 Mass Vaccination 

Command Group and other key stakeholders

The Group has reviewed the published evidence on COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy or 
refusal and what might work in encouraging and enabling vaccine uptake. This will 
be supplemented with local data on vaccine uptake across different population 
groups, local insight research and feedback during engagement activities, and the 
impact data and learning that we gather as interventions are delivered. A ‘test and 
learn’ approach will ensure the programme can adapt and improve effectively within 
the Gloucestershire Mass Vaccination Programme timelines. We will endeavour to 
co-design interventions where timescales and resources allow and where this is not 
possible will be guided by national and local evidence and insights. The COM-B 
behaviour change model is being applied to our choice and design of interventions. 

Current data on inequalities relating to vaccine uptake among JCVI priority groups 1-
4 is limited to a broad breakdown by ethnicity, age and Primary Care Network (PCN). 
These data suggest, in line with national findings, that Black and Minority Ethnic 
(BAME) groups are less likely to come forward for the vaccination that White British 
groups. A crude analysis by PCN also supports the national trend that those living in 
areas of deprivation are less likely to come forward than those from more affluent 
areas. We are expecting more detailed data, including gender, a more detailed 
breakdown of ethnicity, pre-existing conditions and other characteristics over the 
next two to three weeks. A communications and engagement plan has been drafted 
and work is underway, initially focusing on BAME communities. To give a flavour of 
this work, to date it has included:

 Community champions Q & A event in Bartongate at the end of January, with 
follow up in March

 A community-led panel discussion for BAME groups on vaccination facts and 
myth busting (Weds 17th February) 

 Compiling a database of community links e.g. faith leaders, and potential venues 
for targeted vaccination ‘pop-ups’ should these be needed

 A session for faith leaders planned for later in the month
 Development of translated and easy read versions of key resources
 Conversations with Polish and Eastern European communities to review popular 

social media sites to highlight misinformation. A Facebook live session for the 
local Polish community is being scoped.  

Page 16



5

A HealthWatch England survey is being run to explore intentions to take up the 
vaccine and potential barriers. The Vaccinations Equity group is considering 
adaptations to the survey for targeted local use. 

Conversations are ongoing regarding the vaccination of individuals who are resident 
in the Forest of Dean but registered with a GP in Wales. We are exploring the risk of 
inequity given the different trajectories for vaccine roll-out between the two countries.

In addition, we have made representations to the Gloucestershire COVID-19 Mass 
Vaccination Command Group to consider rough sleepers and asylum seekers as 
priority groups for vaccination under JCVI group 4, which includes those who are 
extremely clinically vulnerable. This has been agreed on the basis of the likely 
vulnerability and exposure of this group and steps are underway to encourage and 
enable them to come forward for vaccination. 

Finally, we are participating in a newly convened South West PHE regional network 
for Health Inequalities and COVID-19 Vaccinations to share learning and good 
practice and to raise and resolve   

Long Term Impact of COVID-19 

Health Inequalities and COVID-19

Building on the summary of this work provided in January we can report the following 
progress.

Health Inequalities Framework / Toolkit

An outline of the toolkit and its range of constituent tools were presented to CCG 
colleagues in February.  There is considerable support for the approach and 
agreement to test relevant tools in partnership. The idea is that the tools will be 
tested and simplified so that they can picked up by partnerships, organisations and 
services across the system to help them take a more systematic approach to 
understanding and acting on the inequalities in their area.  The table below lists the 
tools and the areas in which they are being tested locally.

Tool Purpose of the Tool Case Study 

Health Equity 
Audit (HEA)

To identify how fairly resources 
are distributed across different 
groups

Healthy Lifestyles Service

Health Equity 
Assessment 
(HEAT) Tool

Similar to HEA tool but a lighter 
weight alternative, which also 
helps to identify mitigating actions 

Carers offer (adult carers)

Health Impact 
Assessment

Used to predict health 
consequences for different groups 
if a proposal were implemented

Planning and health 

Page 17



6

Social Return on 
Investment (SROI)

Identifies and attempts to put a 
value on the wider benefits of an 
intervention or programme 

No Child Left Behind 
Programme 

Intervention 
Effectiveness / 
Decay Model

Systematically uses data to 
assess the effectiveness of a 
patient pathway for different 
groups of the population

Respiratory CPG (pathway 
tbc)

Place-based tool A joined-up approach that treats 
the ‘place’, and not just individual 
problems or issues, in recognition 
of the multiple causes of health 
inequalities

Gloucester City (specifics 
tbc)

While a draft of the toolkit will be available at the end of March this will continue to be 
developed as the case studies are implemented over forthcoming weeks and 
months. The toolkit will also include specific recommendations or to different parts of 
the system to contribute to reducing health inequalities across the seven priorities of 
the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the ambitions within the NHS 
Long Term Plan.

Anchor Institutions 

The work to support Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board to adopt an 
‘anchor institution’ approach to addressing health inequalities has continued.  
Representatives from the relevant organisations are being consulted on the draft 
principles that have been developed to support a shared understanding of what 
anchor institutions in Gloucestershire are, and to summarise anchor institution 
activity. This will be shared with the Health and Wellbeing Board in March before 
being taken forward. 

A BAME Task and Finish group was established to engage with BAME communities 
to take forward the recommendations within the 2020 Director of Public Health 
Annual Report.  Recently this has included work to better understand the potential 
barriers to the uptake of the COVID-19 vaccination and to design communications 
and other activities to help address these barriers. 

The CCG are leading a multiagency plan to address health inequalities in Gloucester 
and the first meeting of the sponsoring group for this plan was held in February. This 
plan aims to a place-based approach to reducing health inequalities in the City. 

While there is a considerable amount of work underway with either the explicit 
intention, or the potential, to address health inequalities, some dedicated resource is 
needed for this work to progress at the pace required to embed the lessons learned 
from the COVID-19 pandemic and to ensure efforts are joined up effectively. Funding 
has been agreed from the COVID-19 Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) 
for two two-year posts (an Outcome Manager and a Commissioning Officer), working 
to the Director of Public Health and with our wider partners, to support the 
development of a sustainable, system-wide network of action and learning on health 
inequalities. 
 

Page 18



7

Covid Variants: Update

All viruses naturally mutate over time, and SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes 
COVID-19 disease, is no exception. Over time, changes can build up in the genetic 
code of the virus, and these new viral variants can be passed from person to person. 
Most of the time the changes are so small that they have little impact on the virus. 
But every so often a virus mutates in a way that benefits it, for example allowing it to 
spread more quickly, and causes us to be concerned about changes in the way the 
virus might behave. In this case the variant may be considered a ‘variant of concern’ 
by the UK government.

Some variants have been identified as Variants of Concern (VOC).  These include: 

 “Kent” variant (VOC202012/01) which likely emerged in September 2020, and 
appears responsible for the higher numbers of cases in Kent despite national 
restrictions being in place.    This variant has multiple mutations in the spike 
protein, which is the part of the virus which first attaches to a human cell. These 
changes have resulted in the virus becoming about 50% more infectious and 
spreading more easily between people.  This strain probably now accounts for 
about 80% of all new cases in the UK

 “South African” variant ((VOC202012/02) which emerged around the same 
time as the Kent variant.   It shares the same mutation to the spike protein as the 
Kent variant but also has a number of other mutations including E484K which 
means it may be able to escape the body’s antibodies to some extent and is 
therefore of potential public health concern. Cases with this mutation are 
currently being followed-up closely and monitored in the UK, with extra case 
finding undertaken using “Project Eagle” in some areas where there are people 
who have the variant but have not travelled to South Africa.  

 “Manaus, Brazil” variant (VOC202101/02) which has similar spike protein 
mutations to the South African variant.  No cases have been confirmed in the UK 
to date.

 “Bristol” variant (VOC202102/02), which is similar to the Kent variant but has 
the same E484K mutation as the South African variant, and led to extra testing 
being put on to identify cases in the Bristol and South Gloucestershire area.  
There is currently no evidence this mutation alone causes more severe illness or 
greater transmissibility.

There are other variants that are “variants under investigation” (VUI) and this 
includes another strain from Brazil, a strain in Liverpool which is similar to the Bristol 
strain, and a new variant from Nigeria.   There is currently no evidence that these 
variants cause more severe illness or increased transmissibility but Public Health 
England continues to monitor the situation.

Public Health England are continuing efforts to understand the effect of the variants 
on vaccine efficacy.  In Gloucestershire, we have not been notified of variants of 
concern that require our follow up.  However, we continue to work closely with Public 
Health England to review the case patterns across the UK and South West.  A 
helpful blog is available on the variants from Public Health England 
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2021/02/05/what-do-we-know-about-the-new-
covid-19-variants/ 

Page 19

https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2021/02/05/what-do-we-know-about-the-new-covid-19-variants/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2021/02/05/what-do-we-know-about-the-new-covid-19-variants/


8

Update on community testing 

Two asymptomatic community testing sites are now up and running in 
Gloucestershire and a third will be opening soon:

 Friendship Café, Gloucester – opened on 13th January
 Royal Agricultural University, Cirencester – opened on 17th February
 Miners Welfare Hall, Cinderford – due to open by 10th March

Rapid COVID-19 tests are now available to people who live or work in 
Gloucestershire, who have to leave the house because of work or caring 
responsibilities. People are encouraged to take the test twice a week, receiving their 
result within an hour of their test. Anyone who tests positive is followed up by the 
local Health Protection team to reinforce self isolation messages, signpost to support 
if needed and, in certain cases, provide rapid action to prevent potential outbreaks in 
high risk settings.

As of 21st February:

 3,244 tests have been carried out in Gloucester, with 21 positive cases found
 152 tests have been carried out in Cirencester, with 1 positive cases found

We are now actively working with DHSC to make rapid tests available to more 
people across the county and are planning the roll out of further sites to be confirmed 
in the coming weeks. We are also exploring other ways of making tests more 
accessible to those without symptoms, as national policy on community testing 
develops.

Impact of Covid-19 on sexual health

In common with other health services, sexual health services have also been 
impacted by the pandemic. Provisional data collated by PHE (December 2020) 
shows that the number of consultations carried out by specialist sexual health 
services fell during the first lockdown; along with rates of STI testing and new STI 
diagnoses. While there was some recovery when lockdown measures were eased; 
nationally the numbers of consultations, tests and diagnoses in summer 2020 still 
remained considerably below the same period in 2019. National data for the latter 
part of last year is not yet available, but it is likely that attendances and activity will 
still remain below expected levels.

The local sexual health service has remained open throughout the pandemic, but 
has had to adapt how services are provided to ensure the safety of staff and 
patients; and the resilience of the service.  Clinics are largely concentred in the 
central Hope House hub in Gloucester; facilities to enable remote tele-consultations 
are in place; and vulnerable/high risk patients are being prioritised. The county has 
an established programme of online STI testing which has ensured that STI tests 
have remained accessible.

Page 20



9

Locally, the number of contacts delivered by the service has followed a similar 
pattern to the national trend. Activity numbers fell during lockdown compared to the 
same period in 2019; but recovered slightly when lockdown measures were eased.  
While there was a decrease in face to face contacts, contacts via telephone triage 
increased. 

We do not yet have full data for 2020 on the rate of STI testing in the county or 
incidence (new diagnoses) of STIs. This will be published by PHE later this year. 
However, local data from the Sexual Health Service shows that there was a 
reduction in the number of STI testing kits ordered online in the first three quarters of 
2020/21 compared to the same period in 2019/20. There has also been a slight 
decrease overall in the positivity rates locally of the four main STIs (chlamydia, 
gonorrhoea, syphilis and HIV). This may reflect changes in sexual behaviours linked 
to social distancing measures, and/or a reduction in people accessing testing either 
because of reduced need or reticence in accessing health services during the 
pandemic.

Overall, it is still too early to fully quantify the impact of the pandemic on STI rates 
and heath outcomes; and it is important that we continue to monitor this and plan for 
the recovery phase. 

Roll out of Pre-exposure Prophylaxis for HIV (PrEP) 

The Committee will be aware that Gloucestershire rolled out the provision of PrEP (a 
drug that can prevent individuals contracting HIV) as part of routine commissioning in 
December 2020. A follow-up question was asked about how we promote PrEP and 
encourage uptake specifically among those groups who might be at higher risk of 
HIV.

Since the roll out, the Specialist Sexual Health Service have focused on embedding 
the new service and seeing individuals who were on the waiting list for PrEP 
following on from the national PrEP IMPACT trial. All those who were on the waiting 
list have now been seen and where appropriate, started on the medication and 
relevant care pathway. Over the coming months, the service will continue to promote 
PrEP to all new and existing service users who might benefit from its use.

Alongside this, it is also important that we work in the community to raise awareness 
of PrEP, with a particular focus on individuals at higher risk of HIV acquisition who 
might not be engaged with traditional sexual health services. This includes men who 
have sex with men, people from black and minority ethnic communities; transgender 
individuals, and heterosexual men and women who have sexual partners with 
undiagnosed or untreated HIV infection. 

In December 2020, The Eddystone Trust, who delivers the sexual health prevention 
service in Gloucestershire, ran an online event for the South West region on 
inequalities in sexual health and PrEP for BAME communities. Six Gloucestershire 
organisations, including GARAS, attended the event. We will be building on this and 

Page 21



10

working closely with The Eddystone Trust over the coming months to utilise their 
existing networks in the county to ensure PrEP is promoted to other high-risk groups.

PrEP only protects against HIV transmission and it is important that we continue to 
promote it alongside condom use to ensure that people remain protected against 
other STIs. Positively the provision of PrEP should help encourage regular 
attendance and engagement with sexual health services from groups who might be 
more vulnerable to poor sexual health. 

Mental health services for Children and Young people (CYP) – future plans 

As the Committee will be aware, in Spring 2020 the Council commissioned a number 
of new mental health services for adults and children and young people (CYP) to 
help respond to the impact of the pandemic on mental wellbeing. 

The new services include an open access online mental wellbeing platform (‘Kooth’) 
for young people aged 11-18 years, providing access to self-help resources and 
online counselling, and an anonymous helpline (‘TIC+Chat’) offering phone or text 
support to those aged between 11 and 21 years. The services were designed to 
work alongside existing mental health services for CYP in the county, ensuring a 
wider range of options for young people, and offering early intervention support to 
help prevent issues escalating. 

Up to the end of January 2021, Kooth had 613 users who between them had logged 
into the site almost 3000 times. Through to the end of December 2020, TIC+Chat 
had supported 208 young people; the majority of whom presented with 
anxiety/stress. In feedback, users reported feeling listened to and supported by the 
service.

The new services were initially commissioned on a temporary basis with contracts 
lasting up to 12 months. This was to provide the council with greater flexibility to 
review provision in response to need and demand over the course of the pandemic. 
The current contract for the provision of Kooth will expire in May 2021 and the 
arrangement with Teens in Crisis (commissioned via the CCG) will end in June 2021.

Given the uncertainties of the pandemic, non-recurrent funding had been secured 
through the MTFS process to provide the council with the option to recommission 
equivalent provision (again on a temporary basis) when the existing contracts come 
to an end. Over the coming months, commissioners will be reviewing uptake of the 
services and projected need and demand to determine the best short-term 
commissioning options going forward. Consideration will also be given to ensuring 
continuity of support for vulnerable young people through the recovery phase.

While it is too soon to fully quantify the impact of the pandemic on young people’s 
mental health, local referrals to specialist mental health services for CYP in the 

Page 22



11

county have increased compared to the same period last year. There are also 
indications that young people are presenting with a higher level of need.  In 
response, the CCG has agreed to provide some additional funding to the specialist 
service for extra staffing to mitigate some of the increased demand. 

It is important that we also continue to look at support for young people’s wellbeing 
across the pathway from prevention and early intervention to more specialist care; 
and a new mental health CYP strategic response group has been set up to help co-
ordinate our local response. The group brings together commissioners and 
providers, and representatives from education supported by the Gloucestershire 
Healthy Living and Learning programme. 

The Committee will be kept up to date on our work locally to support young people’s 
mental health at this important time for their emotional wellbeing. 

Page 23



12

Containment Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) 

COMF funding allocated to Gloucestershire County Council totals £6,552,000. Business cases have been developed and approved 
for number if initiatives. The Public Health team will be working closely with partners to identify any additional areas that required 
financial support from the COMF fund. 

Area/ Activity
Testing

 Rolling out rapid community testing using LFDs to community settings, schools and workplaces based on 
intelligence relating to outbreak locations

 Mobile LFD testing sites/workforce
 Door to door rapid testing model development 
 Costs of venue/site hire, utilities, capital costs
 Indemnity

Tracing
 Developing and broadening a local contact tracing service including staffing and systems – eventually to include 

contacts and cases and doorstep support/tracing at test sites

Compliance measures (£1,200,000 approved)

 Additional Covid Marshalls to support messaging and enforcement across the county
 Additional staffing in District Environmental Health teams to support prevention of outbreaks
 Support to enable effective compliance with vulnerable group demonstrating challenging behaviour

Communication and marketing
 A range of targeted communications campaigns 

Support for the clinically extremely vulnerable 
 Work with the district councils and VCS organisations to ensure that support is reaching those that need it e.g. 

provision of food, prescription collection services, activities to combat loneliness

P
age 24



13

Area/ Activity
Support for wider vulnerable groups, including rough sleepers

 Bespoke packages for Rough Sleepers/entrenched homeless (£300,000 approved)
 Provision for Mental Health support services across children and young people, and other vulnerable groups 

(£211,000 approved)
 Work to understand and address the long-term impact of COVID-19 on health inequalities (£240,000 approved)

Support for those self isolating 
 To supplement the discretionary payments that district councils can allocate to residents for periods of self 

isolation
 Exploring options regarding incentives to self isolate e.g. ICT equipment for school children (£200,000 

approved)

Targeted intervention for specific cohorts within the community  
 Grant scheme to VCS anchor agencies to encourage prevention activities within communities (£750,000 

approved)

Specialist support 
 Specialist support to target hard to reach groups within community through bespoke communication channels
 Language and interpretation services for BAME groups

Utilisation of local sectors (Academic, volunteers etc.)
 Recognising role of anchor institutions in vehicles for reaching large proportions of the community both in terms 

of delivery of key messages, and also in harnessing local, place based volunteers to support the response e.g. 
student champions and testing services, volunteer led messaging to supporting testing outreach

Support for educational outbreaks
 To provide additional mental health and wellbeing support to teaching staff in the county’s schools (£70,000 

approved)
 Additional Health and Safety staffing resource for schools (£46,000 approved)
 IT equipment for students who need to self isolate (£200,000 approved)

P
age 25



14

Area/ Activity

Other: 
 PPE to supplement ongoing activity

Total approved expenditure: £3,217,000

P
age 26



15

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 

and Public Health

9 March 2021 – Adult Social Care 

_________________________________________________  

Integrated Commissioning Team
Assessment Beds:  In response to national discharge guidance, rapid 

implementation and ongoing monitoring of assessment bed units within 5 care 

homes as a direct extension of acute hospital discharge pathway; flexed admission 

criteria for patients no longer requiring acute hospital care with wraparound MDT and 

clinical support to ensure discharges are supported.   

This is an excellent example of collaborative system working, bringing together 

primary care, adult social care, CHC, therapy, brokerage and the care home provider 

to improve patient and system outcomes on a locality basis.  It also demonstrates 

the working reality of the now live Home First model.

“Out of Hospital Service”:  Joint Age UK/British Red Cross commissioned service 

providing admission avoidance and discharge support to acute and community 

hospitals; enhanced and flexible service delivery in response to Covid-19 and into 

winter; extending telephone welfare calls to urgent care front door.  The service was 

successful in attracting an extension to NHSE winter pressures funding.

Support to Urgent Care and System Flow: participating in cell meetings for 

activity, flow and bed planning and weekly/daily escalation calls; supporting 

coordinated system response to fluctuating demand; and capacity planning.

  

Pulse Oximeters in Care Homes:  aligning with virtual wards, coordination and 

delivery of pulse oximeters into care homes to assist with early detection of 

respiratory distress in residents; “How To” guide and escalation process written for 

care home staff.   800 pulse oximeter devices have been delivered to community a 

Fire Station and distributed to care homes.

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



Lateral Flow Testing: working with care homes to ensure roll-out of devices for 

visitor testing (initially 50 care homes in Gloucestershire), now fully rolled out to 

include other care settings. 

Seasonal Flu Vaccinations to Independent Sector workforce:  coordination, 

communication and delivery of flu vaccine to all independent sector workforce, 

including unpaid carers; hybrid roving model of delivery utilising existing GHC Care 

Home Support Team staff and community pharmacists; community drive-thru clinics 

set up across the county to ensure as much coverage as possible;  targeted email 

and verbal communications to providers to promote availability and  uptake.  

Workforce:  continued redeployment of directorate staff to support the CCG Incident 

Command Centre, Covid-19 vaccination programme for health and social care staff 

and to support Integrated Brokerage team.   We have continued to develop the CCG 

staff apprenticeship scheme to move to full utilisation of the levy fund; 

commencement of 5 graduate management trainees across the CCG; linking with 

GCC to become “Kickstart” employer as per national programme.

Development of fast track recruitment initiative: Within 2 weeks of lockdown we 

developed a robust process of fast track recruitment via the Proud to Care team 

within GCC to support independent sector providers with recruitment of workforce.   

Early numbers showed 115 candidates apply with 35 successfully employed into the 

independent sector. Feedback from providers and candidates has been positive and 

we are working with stakeholders to consider development as a traded subsidised 

service going forward as agreed by the Joint Commissioning Partnership Executive.

Adapted existing training offers to virtual delivery:  successful delivery of 3 

cohorts of Sector Based Work Academies to individuals on universal credit to 

promote careers in adult social care and support them to join the independent sector 

workforce.   We have also successfully delivered the Fundamentals of Care training 

virtually.

Page 30



Adult Transformation Team
The Adult Transformation Team are continuing to test the potential for new 

technologies to support people’s independence. We have established the Digital 

Innovation Fund Forum to bring together voluntary sector organisations who are 

working with technology, enabling them to share good practice and develop new 

ideas. To ensure we understand people’ needs and values, we have established a 

Community of Practice which brings together members of the public and 

practitioners to discuss how technology could help them. This group includes 

representatives from Age UK, Disability Partnership Boards, Gloucestershire Deaf 

Association and Inclusion Gloucestershire. 

With this in mind, having considered feedback from Adult Social Care Technology 

Champions, we have identified a number of new interventions to be considered for 

trialling:

 Autonome: to enable people with Learning Disabilities to become more employable

 RITA: to support people with dementia in care homes

 ARMED: to support people in their own homes by reducing falls

Gloucestershire has also been asked to join the LGA Community of Practice with 

eight other local authorities from across the country to share our knowledge and 

experience of delivering care technology development.

Liquidlogic Adults System Implementation Programme (LASIP) 
The new case management system, Liquidlogic Adults System (LAS) remains on 

course to go live to all end users on 29th March 2021. We are half way through 

training approximately 1,000 end users (GCC and partner staff) in how to use the 

system, using a combination of computer-based training and online virtual training 

with a Liquidlogic Trainer. We are working closely with our ICT teams to resolve any 

technical issues that arise with accessing training.  The final round of testing was 

completed on 12th February and the system configuration and data migration are 

now due to be formally signed off.  Post go-live support has been secured from 

Liquidlogic for 5 weeks from 29th March, to answer staff questions and ensure a 

smooth transition.

Page 31



Additional development work to provide integration between our new case 

management system and our existing Reablement system (Coldharbour) is still 

continuing.  The Reablement service has a business continuity plan in place, should 

the integration not be ready for go-live.

The LAS implementation team have also put together a transition plan to finalise 

arrangements for the change over from ERIC to LAS, ensuring the business is fully 

prepared and supported through the change and that staff have the tools they need 

to capture data during the system freeze period (19th to 28th March).  This has been 

signed off by the Director of Operations for Adult Social Care. 

 

Initial planning discussions are already taking place between Liquidlogic and GCC 

for LAS Phase 2, which includes the implementation of the Adults Portal and Mobile 

app.

Covid Related Activity - Brief Recap on funding to the social care market over 
the last year:

10% Provider Relief
Recognising the pressures that social care providers were under Gloucestershire 

took the decision in March 2020 to pay an additional 10% on all monthly fees of 

social care providers with whom we have a contract for a maximum of 6 months. 

Early on it was decided that since the Integrated Brokerage Team commissions on 

behalf of GCC and the CCG that all packages should receive this benefit. GCCG 

agreed to pay the additional 10% on packages purchased on their behalf. GCC 

funding came from the Covid Relief fund, CCG claimed the additional spend from the 

Health Covid fund. The additional 10% was paid from April to September. 

 
In order to access the 10% funding providers were obliged to accept terms and 

conditions set out in a letter which included completing and submitting a return which 

evidenced appropriate spend. Over the six months a reducing number of providers 

took up the offer.

 

Page 32



Infection Control Fund 1
This fund was paid to GCC in 2 tranches with the condition that 75% was allocated 

directly to all care homes in the county (regardless of whether they hold a contract 

with GCC) on a per bed basis. Councils were given discretion as to how to allocate 

the remaining 25% and GCC’s decision for Tranche 1 was to pay Domiciliary Care 

providers an allocation. In Tranche 2 the 25% was divided between domiciliary care 

providers and supported living providers and an amount was used for the purchase 

of PPE to distribute to providers when needed.   In order to access the funds 

providers were required to sign and return a grant agreement, regular complete the 

National Capacity Tracker and submit returns evidencing their spend.

 
Infection Control Fund 2 (ICF2)
Again, this fund was paid to GCC in 2 tranches, this time the condition was that 80% 

was allocated directly to all care homes in the county (regardless of whether they 

hold a contract with GCC) on a per bed basis and to domiciliary care providers on a 

per head basis. The council was given discretion as to allocation of the remaining 

20% and GCC took the decision that it should be paid to Supported Living Providers; 

day services; voluntary sector providers who have incurred infection control costs; 

purchase of PPE for distribution to providers when needed; and the provision of flu 

jabs to the social care workforce.   In order to access the funds providers were 

required to sign and return a grant agreement, regular complete the National 

Capacity Tracker and submit returns evidencing their spend. 

 

Care Home Pods
In Nov/Dec 2020 Cllr Mark Hawthorne and Pete Bungard made an offer to all care 

homes in Gloucestershire of £3000 each to go towards the purchase or building of 

facilities which would enable visits to care homes.  It is proposed that this can be 

funded through the 20% of the ICF2 funding and will be allocated via a letter setting 

out terms which require the provider to evidence spend that has not been covered by 

any other grant funding to date.

 

Page 33



Rapid Testing Fund (RTF)
This fund was launched at the end of January and is to support the administrative 

costs providers face in implementing the prescribed rapid flow test regime. 80% has 

been allocated to care homes in Gloucestershire (regardless of whether GCC has a 

contract with them) on a per bed basis and GCC has discretion over the spending of 

the remaining 20%. Domiciliary care providers are not currently obliged to utilise 

RTFs so the need is not the same in that sector. Unless the guidance changes on 

that it is likely that the 20% will also be allocated amongst care homes if not required 

buy other parts of the market.

 

In order to access the funds providers are required to sign and return a grant 

agreement and submit returns evidencing their spend. 

 
Workforce Capacity Fund
Guidance for this latest fund has recently been received. The fund is to deliver 

measures to supplement and strengthen adult social care staff capacity to ensure 

that safe and continuous care is achieved. Measures can include:

 maintain care provision and continuity of care for recipients where pressing 

workforce shortages may put this at risk

 support providers to restrict staff movement between care homes and other 

care settings in all but exceptional circumstances

 support safe and timely hospital discharges to a range of care environments 

including domiciliary care, to prevent or address delays as a result of 

workforce shortages

 enable care providers to care for new service users where need arises.

 GCC has discretion over how the fund is allocated. It will arrive in two tranches and 

has to be spent by March 31st. It has been decided to allocate the funds directly to 

providers in order to meet the very tight timescales. Providers will use the funding 

according to the provisions of the grant under a letter of terms and will be required to 

submit returns evidencing their spend.

Page 34



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fire and Rescue 

 

HMICFRS Inspection Update 

 

The National State of Fire & Rescue 2020 report is expected by the end of February 2021 and 

the findings of this will be inserted into the Improvement Plan, which, in turn, will be embedded 

into the PMO. Our progress against our Improvement Plan in relation to Business Fire Safety 

and Culture was reviewed by HMICFRS in December as a desktop study and this will be 

followed by a virtual re-inspection in February 2021. Documents have been collected in 

advance of a week of interviews with key staff that commenced on 22 February 2021. An 

analysis of capacity to continue to deliver on all improvements across the Service is being 

undertaken as part of the recent structural review. 

 

HMICFRS will continue their normal inspection programme with a full inspection for GFRS 

expected in September 2021. The CFO will be contacted nearer the inspection to discuss how 

it can be completed in the least disruptive way, being cognisant of changing COVID 

restrictions. For the time being, we are continuing to prepare for this second full inspection. 

 

Improvement Board 

 

GFRS have a total of 118 audit recommendations (equating to 124 Board actions) following 

the audits that were carried out and published last year. To ensure robust monitoring and 

support can be provided, an Improvement Board (IB) was established in December 2019.   

 

For each audit action there is a ratification report that records the evidence and progress that 

has been made.  Once an Area Lead is confident that the action has been fully addressed, 

the completed ratification report is put forward to the IB Panel for verification.  If the IB is 

satisfied that the audit action has been fully met, this will then be forwarded to Audit for their 

approval. At present, 101 actions have been implemented, seven are in progress and 16 are 

awaiting feedback.  

Title 
Chief Fire Officer Report – Adult and Social Care and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee 

Chief Fire Officer 
suite of Services 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Civil 
Protection and Coroners Services.  

Date 9th March 2021 

Purpose of Report 
To provide a strategic update on issues and key areas of service 
provision, opportunities and challenges 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

   

As a deliberately developing and learning organisation, reviews are undertaken following each 

IB Meeting.  As a result and over the last eight months, an effective and more collaborative 

working relationship has been established between GFRS and the Audit Risk Assurance 

(ARA) Team.  Regular meetings have been carried out and further ones scheduled.  Training 

for all ARA members with the use of the Improvement Board Tracker and Evidence Folders 

has taken place and access to this information has been made available.  ARA Team 

members are now invited to attend each IB meeting and have the opportunity to ask questions 

/ support or challenge Area Leads where they deem appropriate.  The main reason for this is 

to ensure transparency, add another level of quality assurance and in an effort to 

collaboratively support the efficient progress of the improvement journey.   

Business Planning 

 

The Community Safety Directorate contribution to the draft GCC Annual Governance 

Statement 2020 – 2021 has been written and will seek approval at SLT on 24 February 2021 

and Director sign off before being returned to GCC by 31 March 2021. 

 

The Community Safety Annual Plan 2021 – 2022 is being developed and a draft will seek 

approval at SLT on 24 February 2021. Team plans are also on target to be approved by SLT 

on 24 March 2021. 

 

The development of the 2022-2025 Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) is 

progressing. A four week pre-draft consultation began on 15 February with an eight week 

detailed consultation planned later in 2021. A fourth SLT Workshop to discuss the possible 

content of the detailed proposals is scheduled on 2nd March, with a follow up session planned 

on 12th March. In addition, KPI and LPI workshops are planned for 5th March 2021. 

 

The team have concluded all Improvement Board activities for which they had responsibility. 

 

Community Safety Team 

The mutual aid request, which involved the crewing of ambulances to assist SWASft through 

the initial onset of the COVID-19 period, came to an end on 31st August 2020.  

 

Further to additional pressures, we agreed to support for another four months, commencing 

1st November 2020 and, as a result of a further request from SWASft, formal confirmation has 

been provided of GFRS’ continued support in respect of an extension of the provision of FRS 

mutual aid until w/c Monday 7th April 2021. 

 

During the period 1st Nov 20 – 11th Jan 21, GFRS provided 174 shifts and attended 637 

incidents as part of an ambulance crew, some 1485 mobilisations since the commencement 

of the mutual aid agreement. 

 

Since the start of the pandemic, GFRS have made 3861 individual deliveries of PPE to various 

settings in the County, which equates to 8.5 million pieces of PPE.  Over 200 care home staff 

have requested and received IPC/PPE training as part of the second wave response. 

 

 

 

Page 36



3 
 

Our recruitment campaign for wholetime firefighters is well underway. The original planned 

Positive Action had to be amended to a virtual approach due to the current lockdown 

restrictions.  The advert was released mid January 2021, with new firefighters expected to be 

crewing fire appliances in Spring/Summer 2021. 

 

Trading Standards 

 
All non-critical face-to-face work, including inspections, remain suspended with staff working 

from home where possible. The continued suspension of activities has created a backlog in 

pre-planned inspections in relation to food safety and animal feed, the latter being funded 

inspections.  Officers are conducting ‘virtual’ inspections by internet and telephone where 

feasible to do so. We remain hopeful that lockdown restrictions will be lifted in time to complete 

the planned work. However, if restrictions are not eased at the next review and animal feed 

inspections cannot be completed, the funding awarded to the Service in 2021/22 will be lower 

than forecast to reflect the work not completed. 

If restrictions are not eased following the late February lockdown review, the current 

suspension of inspection work will be reassessed taking into account any change in risk profile 

due to falling infection rates and levels of vaccination in the County. 

The Service continues to work closely with Public Health and District Councils Environmental 

Health colleagues under the various pieces of COVID legislation. 11% of the contact with the 

Service by business or public has been Coronavirus related which has taken priority over other 

core areas of work.  At the end of 2020/21 Q3, demand on the Service was nearly 18% higher 

than at the same period in 2019/20, again reflecting the extra demand on the Service, largely 

as a direct consequence of the Coronavirus pandemic.   

The demand placed on Service resources responding to Coronavirus related work means 

there is no capacity to proactively search and advise businesses, especially small sole traders, 

who may not have taken on their additional responsibilities following EU Exit. 

Coroners Services 

 

The Coroners Service is continuing to run its entire core functions from the Coroners Court at 

Barnwood, Gloucester. Essential staff are working from home whenever possible, whilst 

continuing to take death reports and forward these to the Senior Coroner. Autopsies and body 

receipt/releases are also continuing within the mortuary, with enhanced PPE as directed by 

professional bodies.  

The Senior Coroner has relaxed expectations on internal examinations to help ease pressures 

on staff and duty pathologists.  All members of the team have now received their first 

vaccination. 

Inquests are also continuing to operate from Barnwood during the new lockdown although 

these have minimal public attendance and the service are working with the GCC ICT 

department to investigate electronic means for allowing more people to virtually attend these 

hearings. 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



4 
 

Civil Protection Team 

 

The Civil Protection Team (CPT) continues to support the response to C-19 including attending 

C-19 Tactical Response Group and Community Safety Directorate Silver recovery meetings. 

We also support the newly established C-19 Risk Management Group as required (sub-group 

from the C-19 Tactical Response Group). 

 

A CPT duty Officer is on-call 24/7. A number of incidents during January / February as outlined 

below were responded to: 

 

 Widespread flooding (Jan/Feb) inc: supporting evacuations of vulnerable residents 

 Liaison with Health Colleagues regarding residents who were unable to leave their 

properties due to flooding to receive their C-19 vaccine 

 Attended Flood Advisory Service meetings  

 Ensured and provided regular common information picture updates to key 

stakeholders within GCC.  

Plans  

The LRF Mass Evacuation and Shelter plan has been updated in liaison with key 

stakeholders and, after consultation with the wider LRF, this plan has now been finalised. A 

discussion exercise is being planned for early 2021 to validate the plan.  

 

Consultation with LRF partners on the Coastal Pollution Plan is due to finish mid-February. 

A discussion exercise is being planned for early 2021 to validate the plan. 

 

In light of the recent Avian Flu outbreaks a light touch plan update is being undertaken on the 

Animal Disease Plan, in consultation with APHA (Animal & Plant Health Agency, WWT 

Slimbridge, GCC Public Health and GCC Trading Standards). This is due to be completed mid-

February.     

 

Training / Exercises 

In partnership with other LRF member agencies, a pilot multi-agency response training ‘JESIP 

Multi-agency Operational Course’ has been delivered virtually. Further sessions are planned 

for 2021. Work is also underway to revise and adapt the ‘JESIP Multi-agency Tactical Course’ 

to a virtual session for delivery throughout 2021. 

Virtual training sessions have been delivered to district partners and accredited volunteers 

(Gloucestershire Emergency Support Team) regarding the operation of rest centres, duty 

officer (tactical), training.  Support is provided to GCC Gloucestershire Emergency Support 

Team (GEST) in recruiting new volunteers and providing ongoing engagement and training 

for volunteers to be able to support Rest Centres if required.   

The post GCC Silver exercise report has been written and shared with the silver team to further 

develop organisational learning. 

A virtual training session, delivered to the new staff who form the C-19 hub at GCC, provided 

a wider understanding of the statutory responsibilities of the County Council under the Civil 

Contingencies Act 2004, the LRF, and how the command & control structure (both single and 

multi-agency) works in response.  

 

Page 38



5 
 

Exercise Tinsel (a call-out exercise to test availability/ response times of key staff) was 

delivered on 22nd December 2020. Participants included a number of GCC key response 

officers, District Councils and Gloucestershire Emergency Response Team (GEST). A post 

exercise report has been compiled and distributed. 

 

Business Continuity Management (BCM)  

The programme of business continuity management (BCM) work is continuing and is on 

track.   

 

District Service Level Agreements 

The current agreements to support 5 of the districts with their emergency management expires 

on 31st March 2021. A revised 3 year agreement (April 2021 – March 2024) has been 

developed in consultation with GCC Legal. The proposed SLA is currently with the districts for 

consideration. Deadline has been given for SLA’s to be returned by 1st March 2021 if each 

district wishes to continue the arrangement. 

 

Prevent 

An SLA with all of the PREVENT partnership Board members for secretariat support has been 

reviewed in consultation with GCC legal, the proposed SLA is due to be presented at the next 

Gloucestershire Prevent Partnership Board (GPPB) by the chair at the next meeting (March 

2021) for consideration. 

 

Executive Decision Making by an Officer with Delegated Powers 

 
 To direct award a contract to Volvo Car UK Ltd for the purchase of 16 light fleet vehicles 

via compliant process through the Blue Light Crown Commercial Service Framework 

(RM6060) 

 

Report end 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Public Health Report
	5 Adult Social Care Report
	6 Chief Fire Officer Report

